RECEIVED

Jan 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-23-00244
Appellate Case No. 2023-001053

Dealer Financial Holdings, LLC, Steve Lanzl, and Daniel B. Haight,

Appellants,

v.

Penland Automotive, LLC and Charles W. Penland, Jr.,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Robert H. Jordan (SC Bar No. 13612)
850 Morrison Drive, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29403
(843) 727-2670
Email: robertjordan@parkerpoe.com

Emily I. Bridges (SC Bar No. 102199)
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
110 East Court Street, Suite 200
Greenville, SC 29601

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Renewed Motion to Strike Jury Demand based on the language contained within the agreements.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2016, Penland Automotive, LLC (“Penland Automotive”), Charles W. Penland, Jr. (“Charles Penland”), Penland Properties II, LLC (collectively, “Respondent” or “Penland”), and Dealer Financial Holdings, LLC (“DFH”) entered into that certain Loan and Security Agreement dated November 21, 2016 (the “Financing Agreement”), pursuant to which Penland Automotive borrowed money from DFH in the form of cash advances to Penland Automotive to purchase used car inventory for resale in its used car business. (R. p. 35).¹ The Financing Agreement established the lending relationship between DFH and Penland by which DFH lent money for floor financing. (R. p. 35). It is undisputed that Charles Penland signed the Financing Agreement and other documents on behalf of himself and Penland Automotive in 2016. (R. pp. 156; 7-9; 212). The parties successfully conducted business with one another for three years, during which DFH advanced money, and Penland then purchased vehicles and made payments back on the loans. (R. p. 212).

On or about February 20, 2019, the parties paused their business relationship with one another. (R. p. 212). In July 2020, however, it is undisputed the parties again resumed business with one another. (R. pp. 212-213) At the time the parties resumed doing business, no new contract was signed between the parties. As their business relationship continued, DFH loaned funds,

¹ Contemporaneously with the execution of the Financing Agreement, Penland Automotive executed a Demand Note, and Charles Penland executed an Unlimited Guaranty, both of which contain the identical jury trial waiver language as the Financing Agreement and cited herein. (R. pp. 42-68).

Penland accepted the money to purchase vehicles, and Penland had repaid some of the money owed. (R. p. 212).

In October 2020, a dispute arose among the parties regarding the Financing Agreement, and Respondents filed the lawsuit. (R. pp. 11-21). Appellants answered denying liability and asserted counterclaims, including an affirmative defense based on the jury trial waiver. (R. pp. 22-41). DFH initially filed a Motion to Strike Jury Demand on April 13, 2021, and a hearing was held on June 29, 2021. (R. p. 2). On July 28, 2021, the Court denied the Motion to Strike Jury Demand *without prejudice* and with leave to renew at a later time, indicating further discovery was necessary. (R. p. 4) (emphasis added). After two years of conducting discovery, DFH filed a Renewed Motion to Strike Jury Demand on September 28, 2022. (R. pp. 69-71). A hearing on DFH's Renewed Motion was held on January 4, 2023, before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. (R. p. 209). On June 1, 2023, Judge Cole entered a Form 4 Order denying DFH's Renewed Motion to Strike Jury Demand. (R. pp. 7-9). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law.” *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772 (2010). Appellate courts may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the circuit court's findings. *Id.* at 15, 690 S.E.2d at 772-73.

ARGUMENT

The jury trial waiver in the Financing Agreement applies to the claims at issue, even if the Court were to ultimately conclude that the Financing Agreement does not apply to the subsequent loan transactions. Penland expressly waived any right to a jury trial as to any and all causes of action alleged in this case. Moreover, the jury trial waiver applies regardless of whether or not those causes of action arose pursuant to the Financing Agreement. Specifically, Section 17 of

Financing Agreement, which is titled in bold and italic font “*Waiver of Jury Trial*”, contains the following language in all capital letters:

TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH GRANTOR AND DFH HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY, AND AFTER AN OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH INDEPENDENT LEGAL COUNSEL, (A) **WAIVE ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, ANY RELATED AGREEMENT, THE LIABILITIES, ALL MATTERS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND DOCUMENTS EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, AND ANY AND ALL CAUSES OF ACTION IN ANY WAY RELATING TO ANY MATTER BETWEEN THEM WHETHER ARISING FROM OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY RELATED AGREEMENT, OR ARISING FROM ALLEGED EXTRA-CONTRACTUAL FACTS PRIOR TO, DURING, OR SUBSEQUENT TO THIS AGREEMENT** AND REGARDLESS OF THE LEGAL THEORY UPON WHICH SUCH MATTER IS ASSERTED, AND (B) AGREE NOT TO SEEK TO CONSOLIDATE ANY SUCH ACTION WITH ANY OTHER ACTION IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL CANNOT BE, OR HAS NOT BEEN, WAIVED. EACH GRANTOR CERTIFIES THAT NEITHER DFH NOR ANY OF ITS REPRESENTATIVES, AGENTS OR COUNSEL HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT DFH WOULD NOT IN THE EVENT OF ANY SUCH PROCEEDING SEEK TO ENFORCE THIS WAIVER OF RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

(R. pp. 70-71) (emphasis added). The term “Grantor”, as used in the jury trial waiver, is defined at the beginning of the Financing Agreement to include Penland Automotive and Charles Penland. (R. pp. 42-68).

In light of the clear and unambiguous language contained in the Financing Agreement, any claims asserted by the Respondents in this case fall within the scope of the jury waiver and the waiver should be enforced. The law is well-settled in South Carolina that the right to a jury trial may be waived by contract. *Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass’n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 333, 755 S.E.2d 437, 443 (2014) (“A party may waive the right to a jury trial by contract.”); *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 663, 582 S.E.2d 432, 440 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] person who signs a contract or other written document cannot avoid the effect of the document by claiming that he did not read it.”); *see also DRV Fontaine, LLC v. Fontaine Business Park, LLC*, No. 2015-UP-506, 2015 WL 9998292, at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. Dec. 23, 2015) (holding that a party may waive the right

to jury trial by contract); *N. Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc.*, 307 S.C. 533, 535, 416 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1992) (stating that right to jury trial may be waived by contract); *Leasing Serv. Corp. v. Crane*, 804 F.2d 828, 833 (4th Cir. 1986). Moreover, while jury trial waivers are strictly construed, they are nevertheless construed according to their “plain, ordinary and popular meaning.” *Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd.*, 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Fritz-Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick v. Goforth*, 312 S.C. 315, 318, 440 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1994)). An ambiguous contract is “one capable of being understood in more ways than just one, or an agreement unclear in meaning because it expresses its purpose in an indefinite manner.” *Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down’Round Development Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 89, 232 S.E.2d 20, 25 (1977).

Here, the “plain, ordinary and popular meaning” of the jury trial waivers contained in the Financing Agreement executed by Penland clearly encompasses all causes of action asserted in the Complaint, regardless of whether the Court ultimately concludes that the transactions that are at issue are otherwise governed by the remaining terms of the Financing Agreement. The plain language is broader than just this Financing Agreement itself, and it is not unclear. By its plain and unambiguous language, the jury trial waiver clearly applies not only to all disputes arising under the Financing Agreement, it also apply to: (1) all disputes related to the Financing Agreement, (2) any and all causes of action “in any way relating to any matter” involving the parties, and (3) all causes of action arising from or related to “extra-contractual facts ... subsequent to” the Financing Agreement. Essentially, the unambiguous language states that if these parties are going to engage in business with one another, whether under the specific Financing Agreement originally executed in 2016 or through some future arrangement, DFH and Penland agree to a jury trial waiver. Respondents have argued the Financing Agreement between the parties was terminated, therefore

the jury trial waiver provision was also terminated. Appellants dispute the termination, and this is an issue that remains for trial. However, regardless of whether the Financing Agreement executed in 2016 was terminated, the narrow issue is whether the jury trial waiver remains effective. Because the specific language of the jury trial waiver is broader than just the specific contract in which it is included, it governs any relationship or any business between DFH and Penland.

Each and every one of the causes of action asserted arose because of the financing arrangement between DFH and the Respondents. It is undisputed that the present lawsuit is about the relationship between these parties and a dispute over their rights and obligations. If not for this relationship, regardless of whether the Financing Agreement and its terms were applicable in 2020, the dispute “relates to” a matter involving the parties and certainly arises out of facts at issue subsequent to the execution of the Financing Agreement. Respondents cannot present any facts about their claims which take it outside of the language of the jury waiver.

Additionally, the Financing Agreement includes a severability clause at Section 13. This clause states that “[a]ny invalidity, in whole or in part, of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity of any other provision of this Agreement.” Thus, even if one provision of the Financing Agreement is determined to be unenforceable, that does not mean the jury waiver or any other clause is invalid. Therefore, even if the Court were to find that the specific Financing Agreement or other terms were inapplicable to the current dispute, the jury trial waiver would still apply. The unambiguous language of the jury trial waiver clause at issue states it applies to all causes of action that in any way relate to the parties to it, and there are no other reasonable interpretations of the language.

In briefing and at the hearing, Penland has attempted to expand the issue beyond simply the enforceability of the jury trial waiver to the entire merits of the case, which is not the issue

raised by DFH's Motion before the Court. Specifically, Penland has claimed that the contract was terminated before the parties resumed business in July 2020. However, the merits of this particular argument are of no relevance for the issue before the Court. The question is whether the jury trial waiver as written survives termination, if in fact, any alleged termination occurred. The narrow, discrete issue brought by DFH as well as before the Court is whether the specific language of the jury trial waiver applies to the lawsuit, regardless of whether any other provisions of the Financing Agreement are enforceable. The only question is whether the clear, unambiguous, and broad language of the jury trial waiver applies to the causes of action among the party - as it plainly does. The express language of the clause states that anything related to the business dealings among the parties, including arrangements subsequent to the specific Financing Agreement, all fall under the purview of the jury trial waiver language.

As such, the jury trial waiver applies, and the Court erred in denying Appellants' Renewed Motion to Strike.

CONCLUSION

All of the causes of action asserted by the Respondents in this action either arise out of or are related to the exact same lending relationship that has existed between the parties since 2016, regardless of whether the same commercial terms are still in effect or different ones apply. Accordingly, Respondents have no right to a jury trial on any issue in this case, and their demand for a jury trial should be struck and the case referred to the Greenville County Master-in-Equity in accordance with Rule 53(b), SCRPC.