RECEIVED

Jan 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No. 2023-001053
Lower Court Case No. 2021-CP-23-00244

Dealer Financial Holdings, LLC, Steve Lanzl, and Daniel B. Haight, Appellants,

v.

Penland Automotive, LLC and Charles W. Penland, Jr., Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

KENISON, DUDLEY & CRAWFORD, LLC

s/ Jason M. Imhoff

Jason Imhoff (S.C. Bar # 69355)

704 E. McBee Ave.

Greenville, SC 29601

(864) 242-4899

Imhoff@conlaw.com

*Counsel for Respondents Penland Automotive, LLC
and Charles W. Penland, Jr.*

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Essential and Material Terms of any Purported 2020 Agreement are so Unclear that there cannot be a Meeting of the Minds

There is no valid written agreement between the parties and therefore no waiver of a jury trial. “[I]n order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to *all* essential and material terms of the agreement.” *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989) (citing *Hughes v. Edwards*, 265 S.C. 529, 220 S.E. (2d) 231 (1975)) (emphasis in original). “This ‘meeting of minds’ required to make a contract is not based on secret purpose or intention on the part of one of the parties, stored away in his mind and not brought to the attention of the other party, but must be based on purpose and intention which has been made known or which, from all the circumstances, should be known.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

The 2016 agreement was closed and terminated and cannot control the parties’ renewed relationship in 2020. The “verbal renewal” alleged by DFH is (1) not in writing; (2) unclear regarding the contracting entities, collateral, and terms; (3) indisputably not accepted by Penland Properties or personal guarantor Charles Penland; and (4) unclear and ambiguous as Penland Automotive immediately and repeatedly contacted DFH asking for the new documents and a explanation of terms. There was no “meeting of the minds.”

As noted above, the 2016 Agreement was amended multiple times in writing between 2016 and 2019. Charles Penland always signed those amendments. Tim Yarger never signed those amendments or any other contracts on behalf of Penland Automotive. In 2019, the loan, security agreement, personal guaranty, and mortgage were cancelled and all of Respondents’ reserves were returned. Appellants contend that the 2016 Agreement was renewed by verbal agreement in 2020. However, it is unclear whether Appellants contend that the 2016 Agreement or one of the multiple amendments was the agreement that was renewed. It is also unclear if the personal guaranty, mortgage, or other documents were “renewed,” and which parties were

bound by the agreement. John Bethea, an independent contractor with DFH, testified that Mr. Haight told him Penland Automotive did not understand what or why they were being charged the prices DFH was charging. (J. Bethea Depo., pp. 101-104)(R. 168). Additionally, Mr. Bethea testified that it was unclear which contract – the terms of the 2016 Agreement or its multiple amendments – controlled the 2020 agreement. (J. Bethea Depo, pp. 101-104)(R. 168).

All of the allegedly wrongful conduct in this case arises out of actions taken by DFH based upon the alleged 2020 verbal agreement after the 2016 contracts and documents and their amendments were completely closed and ended. Despite its position today, Respondent promised and created terms and new documents in 2020 which were never shared or executed. Now, finding itself in a position where it loaned money with no written agreement, terms, rights, or security interests it is taking an illogical and unsupportable position that somehow, despite no knowledge by the parties bound to it, that the 2016 Agreements were renewed. The renewal, and therefore enforceability, rights, and obligations under it is the issue in this case which must be determined before the court can determine whether the actual terms are enforceable.

Further, the cases cited by Appellants in support of waiver of a jury trial do not cite a dispute over the existence of a contract. Instead, in those cases, there was no dispute regarding the existence and execution of the agreements. The only issues in those cases were whether the undisputed contract and its terms were enforceable in light of considerations of equity, unconscionability, or scope of the clause. Here, the entire agreement, its execution, and its enforceability is in dispute leaving its validity, terms, rights and obligations, and jury waiver as a question for the fact finder.

The main issue, which Appellants ignore, is whether the 2016 agreement, which was indisputably ended and closed, could be renewed and enforced without the knowledge of, consent to, or execution by the parties to it. It would seem, based upon the undisputed fact that

it was secret and therefore neither accepted nor executed, there could be no meeting of the minds and therefore was never “renewed” and is unenforceable. As such, the agreement itself must be validated and found enforceable before the trial court, or this court, can find that the waiver of jury trial is enforceable. Because the existence and enforceability of the ENTIRE “verbal renewal” is in dispute the Circuit Court’s Order should be affirmed.

II. The 2020 Agreement is Barred by the Statute of Frauds

It is undisputed that Charles Penland did not, individually or on behalf of Penland Automotive sign an agreement in 2020, nor did Charles Penland sign a mortgage or personal guaranty. As there is no agreement in writing, DFH’s arguments and 2020 contract is barred by the statute of frauds, S.C. Code Ann. § 32-3-10 (the “Statute of Frauds”). The Statute of Frauds provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

No action shall be brought whereby:

- ...
- (2) To charge the defendant upon any special promise to answer for the debt, default or miscarriage of another person;
- ...
- (4) To charge any person upon any contract or sale of lands, tenements or hereditaments or any interest in or concerning them; or
- (5) To charge any person upon any agreement that is not to be performed within the space of one year from the making thereof;

Unless the agreement upon which such action shall be brought or some memorandum or note thereof shall be in writing and signed by the party to be charged therewith or some person thereunto by him lawfully authorized.

Appellants’ Counterclaim includes a claim for Suit on Guaranty against Charles Penland. Clearly, subsection (2) of the Statute of Frauds which provides that agreements for a party to answer for the debt or default of another person must be in writing applies to the Guaranty. As provided by the Statute of Frauds, no action may be brought against Plaintiffs *unless* there is a written agreement signed by the party to be charged. Defendants have brought

a counterclaim against Plaintiffs Penland Automotive and Charles Penland. Neither of these parties signed a written agreement renewing the 2016 Agreement in 2020.

Further, the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement included a mortgage, thus invoking paragraph 4 - To charge any person upon any contract or sale of lands, tenements or hereditaments or any interest in or concerning them. It also contains a demand note and a power of attorney. Therefore, the Statute of Frauds applies, and Plaintiffs' "agreement" is barred and unenforceable.

The security agreement in the alleged 2020 "agreement" is unenforceable pursuant to the S.C. Code § 36-9-203:

(b) Except as otherwise provided in subsections (c) through (i), a security interest is enforceable against the debtor and third parties with respect to the collateral only if:

- (1) value has been given;
- (2) the debtor has rights in the collateral or the power to transfer rights in the collateral to a secured party; and
- (3) one of the following conditions is met:
 - (A) the debtor has *authenticated* a security agreement that provides a description of the collateral and, if the security interest covers timber to be cut, a description of the land concerned;
 - (B) the collateral is not a certificated security and is in the possession of the secured party under Section 36-9-313 pursuant to the debtor's security agreement;
 - (C) the collateral is a certificated security in registered form and the security certificate has been delivered to the secured party under Section 36-8-301 pursuant to the debtor's security agreement; or
 - (D) the collateral is deposit accounts, electronic chattel paper, investment property, letter-of-credit rights, or electronic documents and the secured party has control under Section 36-7-106, 36-9-104, 36-9-105, 36-9-106, or 36-9-107 pursuant to the debtor's security agreement.

(Emphasis added).

Because the alleged agreement was not authenticated by the debtors, the 2020

agreement does not satisfy the requirements of S.C. Code § 36-9-203, and thus is unenforceable.

III. **Tim Yarger Did Not Have Authority to Bind Any of The Alleged Obligor**

Tim Yarger never signed or had authority to sign any contracts on behalf of Charles Penland, Penland Automotive, or Penland properties. Appellants contend that Tim Yarger, the then-General Manager of Penland Automotive, verbally agreed to reuse the terms of the 2016 agreement. However, Mr. Yarger did not have authority to bind Penland Automotive or the other alleged obligors, Penland Properties II and Charles Penland. The 2016 Agreement and the written amendments were all signed by Charles Penland on behalf of himself and his solely owned companies, Penland Automotive and Penland Properties II. Mr. Yarger did not sign any of these agreements on behalf of the debtors.

An agency relationship may be established by evidence of actual or apparent authority. *See Fochtman v. Clanton's Auto Auction Sales*, 233 S.C. 581, 106 S.E.2d 272 (1958); *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 566, 813 S.E.2d 292, 304 (Ct. App. 2018). “The existence of an agency relationship is determined by the relation, the situation, the conduct, and the declarations of the party sought to be charged as principal. *Hodge* at 565-566 (quoting *Langdale v. Carpets*, 395 S.C. 194, 201, 717 S.E.2d 80, 83 (Ct. App. 2011)). Further, “[i]t is the duty of one dealing with an agent to use due care to ascertain the scope of the agent's authority.” *Id.* (citation omitted). “[A]n agency may not be established solely by the declarations and conduct of an alleged agent.” *Id.* at 566 (Citations omitted).

The elements of apparent agency are: (1) purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) third party reasonably relied on the representation; (3) third party detrimentally changed his or her position in reliance on the representation. *See Graves v. Serbin Farms, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 60, 409 S.E.2d 769 (1991). “The doctrine of apparent authority focuses on the principal’s manifestation to a third party that the agent has certain

authority.” *Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 468 S.E.2d 292 (1996). Additionally, “[a]pparent authority must be established based upon manifestations by the principal, not the agent.” *Shropshire v. Prahalis*, 309 S.C. 70, 419 S.E.2d 829 (Ct. App. 1992).

Respondents have failed to submit any evidence that the alleged obligors consciously or impliedly represented Mr. Yarger to be their agent with respect to this transaction and that Defendants reasonably relied on the purported representation. As Mr. Yarger lacked actual or apparent authority, his alleged verbal agreement to renew the 2016 Agreement did not bind the obligors.

Even if the court finds Tim Yarger had apparent authority, he could never bind Charles Penland individually or Penland Properties II – therefore the agreement is either completely invalid or invalid as to those two parties and their right to a Jury Trial remains.

IV. The Jury Waiver Provision Is Unenforceable

The jury waiver provision is one-sided and oppressive and therefore unconscionable. Pursuant to S.C. Code § 36-2-302, a contract or any clause of a contract may be attacked at law if it was unconscionable at the time it was made. S.C. Code § 36-2-302. If the court finds that a contract clause is unconscionable, the court may refuse to enforce the contract clause or limit the application of the unconscionable clause to avoid any unconscionable result. *Id.* “Unconscionability is defined as the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them, and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 24-25 (2007) (citing *Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United HealthCare Servs. Inc.*, 361 S.C. 544, 554 (2004)). In determining unconscionability of a specific contractual provision, South Carolina Courts may consider “the cumulative effect of a number of oppressive and one-sided provisions.” *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 403 S.C. 10, 15 (Ct. App. 2013), *aff’d* 417 S.C. 42, 790 S.E.2d 1 (2016).

DFH carefully drafted oppressive, overbroad and one-sided provisions that attempted to abrogate its' liability while simultaneously ensuring for itself a clear advantage to bind and enforce against Respondents. The waiver provisions were unconscionable because they attempted to disclaim DFH's liability and unconscionably restricted Respondents' right and method to bring suit.

The Financing Agreement contains the following language:

TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH GRANTOR AND DFH HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY, AND AFTER AN OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH INDEPENDENT LEGAL COUNSEL, (A) WAIVE ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, ANY RELATED AGREEMENT, THE LIABILITIES, ALL MATTERS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND DOCUMENTS EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, AND ANY AND ALL CAUSES OF ACTION IN ANY WAY RELATING TO ANY MATTER BETWEEN THEM WHETHER ARISING FROM OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY RELATED AGREEMENT, OR ARISING FROM ALLEGED EXTRA- CONTRACTUAL FACTS PRIOR TO, DURING, OR SUBSEQUENT TO THIS AGREEMENT AND REGARDLESS OF THE LEGAL THEORY UPON WHICH SUCH MATTER IS ASSERTED, AND (B) AGREE NOT TO SEEK TO CONSOLIDATE ANY SUCH ACTION WITH ANY OTHER ACTION IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL CANNOT BE, OR HAS NOT BEEN, WAIVED. EACH GRANTOR CERTIFIES THAT NEITHER DFH NOR ANY OF ITS REPRESENTATIVES, AGENTS OR COUNSEL HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT DFH WOULD NOT IN THE EVENT OF ANY SUCH PROCEEDING SEEK TO ENFORCE THIS WAIVER OF RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

The language in this clause is so broad that even according to Appellants it wouldn't just control disputes over the 2016 agreement but also "(1) all disputes related to the Financing Agreement, (2) any and all causes of action "in any way relating to any matter" involving the parties, and (3) all causes of action arising from or related to "extra-contractual facts ... subsequent to" the Financing Agreement. Essentially, the unambiguous language states that if these parties are going to engage in business with one another, whether under the specific

Financing Agreement originally executed in 2016 or through some future arrangement, DFH and Penland agree to a jury trial waiver.” (Appellate Brief). Appellant further opines that “the specific language of the jury trial waiver is broader than just the specific contract in which it is included, it governs any relationship or any business between DFH and Penland.” (Appellate Brief).

As stated by Appellants’ themselves, Appellants are attempting to use the 2016 contracts, which were clearly cancelled and closed, to govern ANY relationship or business between ALL of the parties forever. This was not negotiated, interpreted, or understood by Respondents and is overly broad.

For instance, the defamation cause of action is brought by Charles Penland individually due to Appellants’ derogatory correspondence about the dealership and Mr. Penland and Appellants’ conduct in following Mr. Penland to his place of work at an auction with the alleged intention of embarrassing him or forcing him to sign NEW documents. This conduct by all Appellants was never, nor could ever be reasonably foreseeable such that the parties intended that the 2016 contracts, which were cancelled, would continue to govern Appellants’ conduct in defaming Mr. Penland in 2020 or frankly forever. This is unconscionable and overly broad and should not be enforced.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the Order of Judge Cole. Appellants have put the proverbial cart before the horse. Respondents demand the court enforce the 2016 agreements before the fact finder establishes the existence of a “verbally renewed agreement” in 2020. As Respondent vehemently denies any “verbally renewed agreement” and has filed testimony and evidence that this agreement was never shared, accepted, or executed the appeal is premature and misplaced. Appellant must first prove the existence of and validity of any agreement – which it cannot do – before it can be enforced and, therefore, Judge Cole’s Order should be affirmed.

KENISON, DUDLEY & CRAWFORD, LLC